STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

WILLIAM BROCKMEYER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000695

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether trial counsel's admitted failure to object to hearsay that "people had seen [petitioner] shoot [the decedent]" in a shooting outside of a crowded bar that petitioner testified was accidental constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel depriving petitioner of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel and requiring a new trial?

STATEMENT

In August 2011, petitioner was tried for murder and a weapons charge in Lexington County before the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham and a jury. App. 1. Samuel R. Hubbard, III, and David Shawn Graham represented the State. App. 1. David M. Mauldin and Robert M. Madsen represented petitioner. App. 1. The jury convicted petitioner and his direct appeal was affirmed by this Court. State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 751 S.E.2d 645 (2013).

On February 25, 2014, petitioner filed a PCR application. App. 1039. On November 9, 2016, a hearing was held before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly. App. 1063. Kristy G. Goldberg represented petitioner and Johanna C. Valenzuela represented the State. App. 1063. Judge Kelly denied petitioner's PCR application and also denied his Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion. App. 1120. App. 1165. This petition follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court defers to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)).

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel's admitted failure to object to hearsay that "people had seen [petitioner] shoot [the decedent]" in a shooting outside of a crowded bar that petitioner testified was accidental constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel depriving petitioner of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel and requiring a new trial.

The central factual issue the jury needed to resolve in this case was whether the death at a bar of petitioner's good friend, Nick Rae ("Rae"), was an intentional or accidental shooting. App. 878, ll. 1 – 5. The solicitor, in his opening statement, made a point of telling the jury that motive was not an element of murder. App. 65, ll. 5 – 12. He said, "You need to know in the real world in a courtroom the State never, ever has to prove motive. It's not a requirement." App. 65, ll. 5 – 12. He then alleged appellant was upset over a girl and having to foot the bill when Rae was swindled in pool. App. 65, l. 19 – 69, l. 9. Near the end of his closing argument, after describing Rae's gunshot wound and trying to dispute appellant's testimony that the shooting was an accident, the solicitor told the jury, "If you think that came from an accident, give it what weight you think it is. If you think it's enough, turn him loose." Tr. 878, ll. 1 – 5.

Rae died from a gunshot wound sustained while he was heavily intoxicated and sitting in a chair, slumped over, outside of a bar.¹ App. 96, l. 3 – 103, l. 9. Approximately 25-30 people were at the bar that night. App. 90, ll. 13 – 16. Gina Brakefield, the State's first and primary witness, said that before the shooting, Jennifer McFarland and Brakefield's friend Brittany followed the soon-to-be-sick Rae out of the bar. App. 96, ll. 13 – 23. Amera Kabar, Bassam Kabar, and Jordan Allen were outside when Rae suffered the gunshot. App. 148, l. 3 – 151, l. 3.

¹ The toxicologist testified that Rae's blood alcohol level measured from ocular fluid was 0.227. App. 573, l. 10 – 19. At that level, the toxicologist said most people would be in a "stupor." App. 574, ll. 18 – 25.

App. 245, l. 5 – 248, l. 4. Brakefield testified that after the shooting, “Floods of people came outside. Some left; some stayed.” App. 106, ll. 3 – 5.

Amera Kabar did not see the shooting. App. 182, ll. 9 – 24. She heard a noise that “sounded like a car backfired.” App. 182, ll. 21 – 24. Bassam Kabar saw appellant with Rae, but “couldn’t see if he had the gun in his hands or not.” App. 245, ll. 19 – 23. He “heard a loud pop.” App. 246, l. 1. Bassam Kabar told the police that night that he thought Rae might have shot himself. App. 249, ll. 20 – 25. Jamie Spencer, Amera Kabar’s boyfriend, testified he went back inside the bar right before the shooting. App. 216, l. 20 – 217, l. 12.

Justin Ainsworth was outside, but did not see the shooting. App. 260, ll. 2 – 11. He heard a “loud pop” that “sounded like a firework.” App. 260, ll. 2 – 11. Ainsworth saw appellant walk away and claimed he heard appellant say that Rae shot himself. App. 260, l. 12 – 261, l. 7. Ainsworth went inside the bar, got his wife, and “took off.” App. 261, ll. 18 – 22. Leslie Lawson, who ran the bar, described the crowd after the shooting as a “wave” and a “panic.” App. 301, ll. 2 – 14.

Shawn Grant, a police investigator, described people “sporadically scattered about the grounds” when he arrived. App. 335, ll. 4 – 10. The CSI tech agreed there were “quite a few people” at the scene when he arrived. App. 395, l. 23 – 396, l. 9.

Jordan Allen did not testify. App. 3 - 8. Brittany did not testify. App. 3 - 8. Jennifer McFarland did not testify. App. 3 – 8. The primary issue this Court addressed on petitioner’s direct appeal was petitioner’s attempts to obtain the identity of an anonymous commenter on a news website who claimed to see petitioner’s reaction to his friend being shot. State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 334-40, 751 S.E.2d 645, 650-53 (2013). This Court ruled the issue was unpreserved, in part based on the defense’s lack of renewing any motion after the trial

judge initially ordered the State to help the defense identify the people present at the bar from its sign-in sheet (the bar was a private club), but many of the names were illegible. Id.

Petitioner testified in his own defense that the shooting of his good friend was a tragic accident. App. 758, l. 5 – 763, l. 10. The heavily intoxicated Rae walked “real fast outside.” App. 758, ll. 2 – 4. The DJ announced last call and petitioner went outside. App. 758, ll. 5 – 10. Other people from their table were leaving. App. 758, ll. 5 – 10.

When petitioner got outside, he heard somebody say, “Gun.” App. 759, ll. 4 – 5. Rae was leaning in a chair with his head down and his hand in his lap. App. 759, ll. 4 – 9. When Rae held his head up, petitioner saw that Rae was “holding a gun.” App. 759, ll. 4 – 9. Petitioner leaned in and “tried to grab the gun.” App. 759, ll. 11 – 17.

Petitioner was unsure if he ever managed to grab the gun, but knew that he touched either Rae’s hand or the end of the gun. App. 759, ll. 10 – 23. When he touched it, “the gun went off.” App. 759, ll. 10 – 23. Petitioner’s ears were ringing from the noise. App. 759, ll. 19 – 23. Petitioner took the gun and threw it in the woods because both he and Rae had spent time in prison and were not allowed to have guns. App. 760, ll. 1 – 8. He did not know anything was wrong with Rae when he threw the gun away. App. 761, ll. 5 – 14.

The State’s best witness who claimed to see the shooting was Brakefield. The night of Rae’s death, Brakefield consumed three drinks and a shot. App. 91, ll. 14 – 22. Near the end of the evening at the bar, Brakefield noticed Rae was so drunk that he was passing out at their table. App. 95, ll. 11 – 19. Rae suddenly awakened and ran out of the bar “like he was about to be sick.” App. 96, ll. 3 – 6.

Brakefield went outside and soon saw petitioner “making out” with Brittany. App. 98, ll. 16 – 17. Brakefield called them both “whores.” App. 99, ll. 1 – 3. Once she got onto the

bar's front porch, she "saw [Rae] in the chair slumped over and [petitioner] crouching in front of him." App. 99, ll. 17 – 20. She specifically testified that Rae's hands were by his side and his head was in his lap." App. 99, ll. 21 – 22. Brakefield claimed to see petitioner whispering in Rae's ear "with his hands up in a "trigger-like position." App. 100, ll. 10 – 12. She said Rae was asleep. App. 100, ll. 16 – 17. Brakefield then did a demonstration of what she saw for the jury. App. 100, l. 21 – 102, l. 21. She claimed she then heard a "loud pop" and saw "a brass casing fly out." App. 103, ll. 1 – 2. Petitioner then shook Rae, shoved him, then walked toward the woods. App. 103, ll. 16 – 23.

The solicitor relied heavily on Brakefield's testimony during his closing argument. App. 871, l. 22 – 872, l. 16. The solicitor told the jury, "She sees [petitioner] crouched down with his hand up towards [Rae's] neck in a shooting position. She said [Rae] is passed out with his hands by his side. You can find him guilty on that and nothing else." App. 871, l. 23 – 872, l. 2. The solicitor cited Brakefield as saying Rae's hand never came up and she never saw a gun in Rae's hand. App. 872, ll. 5 – 16. He told the jury that Brakefield had "no reason to lie." App. 872, ll. 14 – 16.

Despite the crowded bar and the number of potential witnesses, Brakefield and petitioner were the only two witnesses who gave specific testimony about the positions of Rae's hands and the gun. Unfortunately for petitioner, trial counsel missed a crucial hearsay objection during the testimony of a member of the group at the bar, Mariko Clack. App. 147, l. 20 – 148, l. 4. Clack met petitioner at a party and claimed petitioner gave her a fake name. App. 128, l. 8 – 129, l. 24. She and petitioner had a brief romantic relationship until Rae told Clack petitioner's real name and that petitioner was engaged. App. 129, l. 20 – 130, l. 18. App. 150, ll. 2 – 15.

Clack was at the bar the night of the shooting, but was not outside when it happened. App. 139, l. 12 – 140, l. 20. Brakefield told her Rae had been shot and Clack “ran outside.” App. 140, ll. 12 – 20. Clack claimed petitioner told her that Rae asked for the gun so he could commit a robbery, then began acting shaky and frantic, screaming, “My brother.” App. 143, ll. 19 – 20. Petitioner walked around weeping and screaming. App. 146, ll. 17 – 22. Petitioner left with the police and told Clack to come get him as he departed. App. 147, ll. 8 – 13.

Later that night, Clack got a phone call from petitioner. App. 147, ll. 14 – 19. The solicitor asked what petitioner said about Rae during the phone call. App. 147, ll. 20 – 21. Clack replied, “He called me and told him to come get him, and I told him that he wasn’t leaving **and that people had seen him shoot [Rae].**” App. 147, ll. 22 – 24 (emphasis added). Trial counsel did not object to the hearsay. App. 147, ll. 19 – 25.

The solicitor immediately asked Clack, “**People said what?**” App. 147, l. 25 (emphasis added). Trial counsel did not object to this question that could do nothing but elicit hearsay. App. 147, l. 25 – 148, l. 2. Clack responded, “That they had seen him shoot [Rae]. **There was witnesses that had seen him shoot [Rae].**” App. 148, ll. 1 – 2 (emphasis added). Again, trial counsel failed to object. App. 147, l. 25 – 148, l. 2.

At the PCR hearing, when confronted with these lines from the transcript, trial counsel agreed that these statements were hearsay. App. 1091, ll. 3 – 25. Trial counsel could not recall why he did not object, but guessed, “It might have gone by so quick because they were talking about like immediately after him denying doing it.” App. 1092, ll. 1 – 5. Trial counsel then said that it “probably went by very quickly and I didn’t catch it to object to it” and ultimately admitted that it was “[p]robably” a missed objection. App. 1092, ll. 6 – 20.

The PCR court held that petitioner could not prove Sixth Amendment prejudice. App. 1134-36. A footnote seems to indicate that the PCR court believed it possible that trial counsel was not deficient because “a strong argument could be made that the testimony at issue was hearsay [sic] under Rule 801(c), SCRE” and then states that the court found that the testimony was offered to establish petitioner’s response to the initial allegations about the shooting. App. 1135-36. The court then held that petitioner could not show prejudice because his defense was accident and therefore he admitted he was involved in the shooting and also because petitioner was overwhelmingly guilty. App. 1135-36.

The PCR court erred on both the deficient performance prong and the prejudice prong of the Sixth Amendment analysis. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). First, trial counsel admitted the deficiency and that the statement was hearsay. The statement was offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801(c), SCRE. The solicitor’s question was, “People said what?” App. 147, l. 25. This question calls for the worst kind of hearsay—factual assertions about the shooting from unidentified “people.” The response was phrased in an active voice—that people saw petitioner shoot Rae. Not that people saw Rae get shot, or that people saw a shooting, but actively stating that petitioner shot Rae. Petitioner’s denial of shooting Rae could have easily been elicited without this rank, inadmissible hearsay.

The case cited by the PCR court does not support any argument that the hearsay in this case was admissible. App. 1135. In Rhodes v. State, 349 S.C. 25, 561 S.E.2d 606 (2002), the witness testified on direct about why he brought a yearbook to the police to help identify the defendant and expressly stated that he had heard “stuff,” that some was true, some was not, and then admitted on cross, these were just rumors that the defendant “may have been involved” in a shooting. Id. at 28-32, 561 S.E.2d at 608-10. Here, the witness did not equivocate and said

witnesses saw petitioner shoot Rae. Rhodes not only fails to support the PCR court's conclusion but instead further illustrates that the testimony in petitioner's case was hearsay.

The analytically very similar recent case of State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015) further shows that the statements in petitioner's case were inadmissible hearsay. In Brewer, the defendant was arrested following two separate shootings at a night club in Beaufort. 411 S.C. at 403-404, 768 S.E. at 657. The first shooting occurred when the night club owner confronted Brewer over the gun he was carrying. Id. Brewer responded by pulling out his pistol and pointing it at the owner's head. Id. Brewer then fired a shot inside the night club, hitting a nearby bystander. Id.

The second shooting occurred while Brewer and his friends fled the night club. Shots were fired by at least two individuals, including Brewer and one other identified person. Id. Another bystander was struck during the second shooting and killed. For unknown reasons, police only pursued Brewer for the second shooting. Id. at 405, 768 S.E.2d at 658.

Beaufort County Sheriff's Deputies Interrogated Brewer. He waived his Miranda rights and denied any involvement in the shootings. Id. Investigators repeatedly told Brewer that numerous witnesses had identified him as the shooter in what the Court described as "hearsay-laden questions and comments." Id. Brewer attempted to stop the interrogation on several occasions, but the police persisted. During the interrogation, investigators repeatedly urged Brewer to "prove his innocence" and to produce his gun so that they could clear him from suspicion. Id.

The Court reversed Brewer's conviction for the fatal, second shooting holding that the investigators repeated references to eyewitness identifying Brewer as the shooter constituted inadmissible hearsay. Id. at 406-407, 768 S.E.2d at 659. "During the interrogation, investigators

frequently referenced and quoted many purported eyewitnesses This evidence was hearsay, offered for the sole purpose of proving the truth of the matter asserted, establishing Brewer’s guilt to all charges.” Id.

The Court specifically rejected the State’s argument that the investigators’ questions were necessary to understand the context of the interrogation. Id. While not creating a categorical rule against allowing investigators’ questions to be played before the jury, the Court stressed that “caution must be exercised in the admission of such evidence to ensure that all out of court statements” are properly admissible. Id.

Just like in Brewer, hearsay statements about unknown eyewitnesses identifying petitioner as the shooter were improperly admitted. Brewer firmly rejects the notion that such hearsay can be offered to prove the effect on the listener or to establish context. The failure to object to the question, “People said what?” was deficient performance. See Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 814 S.E.2d 487 (2018) (holding trial counsel deficient for failing to object to hearsay in a child sex case).

The prejudice from the hearsay goes straight to the central factual question at issue. See Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018). In Smalls, this Court refined the prejudice analysis in PCR cases. Id. No longer allowing for sloppy conclusory statements about lack of prejudice or overwhelming evidence of guilt, the Smalls Court stated, “In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel’s error had on the outcome of the trial.” Id.