STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jun 19 2020

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, PCR Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2019-000695

WILLIAM BROCKMEYER,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LILLIAN L. MEADOWS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103665

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

² Judge Cottingham charged the jury that, “An act may be excused on the grounds of accident if it is shown that the act was unintentional, that the defendant was acting lawfully, and that reasonable care was used by the defendant in the handling of the weapon. (App. 842); *See, e.g., State v. Goodson*, 312 S.C. 278, 280, 440 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1994).

of law, certiorari should be denied.

“An ineffective assistance claim based on a failure to object is tied to the admissibility of the underlying evidence.” *Hough v. Anderson*, 272 F.3d 878, 898 (7th Cir. 2001). “If evidence admitted without objection was admissible, then the complained of action fails both prongs of the *Strickland* test: failing to object to admissible evidence cannot be a professionally ‘unreasonable’ action, nor can it prejudice the defendant against whom the evidence was admitted.” *Id.*; see *Miller v. Keeney*, 882 F.2d 1428, 1434 (9th Cir. 1989) (noting that if a petitioner challenges a futile objection, he fails both *Strickland* prongs); *U.S. ex rel. Link v. Lane*, 811 F.2d 1166, 1170 (7th Cir. 1987) (finding there is no prejudice from failure to object unless there is a legally supportable argument for exclusion of the evidence).

- I. Ample probative evidence supports the PCR court’s conclusion that counsel’s failure to object to the alleged hearsay statement was not deficient performance because the statement was not offered to prove people saw Petitioner shoot the victim, but instead provided context to subsequent testimony regarding Petitioner’s response to initial allegations pertaining to his involvement in the shooting, which supported Petitioner’s version of events and testimony that the shooting was accidental.**

Regarding the deficiency prong of the *Strickland* analysis, the proper measure of performance is whether counsel provided representation within the reasonable range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). When analyzing counsel’s performance, the reviewing court will strongly presume counsel provided adequate assistance, and the applicant is responsible for rebutting that presumption “by proving that his attorney’s representation was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms and that the challenged action was not sound strategy.” *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 384 (1986).

Furthermore, the reviewing court will scrutinize counsel’s performance in a highly

deferential manner, will make every effort “to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight,” and will “evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time” in light of then-existing circumstances. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. In order to establish counsel’s performance was deficient, the applicant must demonstrate “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” *Id.* at 687. Accordingly, representation is constitutionally ineffective only if counsel’s conduct “so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process” that the defendant was denied a fair proceeding. *Id.* at 686.

Rule 801(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence defines hearsay as “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” A statement is “(1) an oral or written assertion or (2) nonverbal conduct of a person, if it is intended by the person as an assertion.” Rule 801(a), SCRE. A court may admit evidence, however, including statements made by someone other than the declarant if it is not offered for the truth of the matter asserted and is otherwise relevant. *See, e.g., Beech Aircraft Corp. v. Rainey*, 488 U.S. 153, 173 n.18 (1988); *cf. State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991) (“Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears.”).

Here, the challenged statement occurred during the following portion of the State’s direct examination of Mariko:

Q: At some point later did you get a phone call from Will Brockmeyer?

A: Yes, I did.

Q: How much longer after he left was it when he called you?

A: Maybe an hour, maybe more, a couple of hours.

Q: What, if anything, did he tell you on the phone about what happened with Nick?

A: He called me and told me to come get him, and I told him that he wasn't leaving **and that people had seen him shoot Nick.**

Q: **People said what?**

A: **That they had seen him shoot Nick. There was witnesses that had seen him shoot Nick.**

Q: What did he say?

A: He said he didn't do it.

(App. 147–48) (emphasis added).

At the PCR hearing, Counsel Mauldin testified he developed a trial strategy based on Petitioner's version of events—that the shooting was an accident. Regarding Mariko's statement, Counsel Mauldin could not recall a specific reason why he did not object, but admitted it was probably a missed objection. (App. 1092). On cross-examination, Counsel surmised that the exchange involving the alleged hearsay statement may have been quick because the solicitor next asked Mariko what Petitioner said in response. (App. 1108). Counsel explained that Mariko's testimony that Petitioner told her he "did not do this," was both important to the defense's theory that the shooting was accidental and consistent with Petitioner's testimony that he initially denied involvement in the shooting because he was scared and in shock. (App. 762–66; 1108).

In finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof as to this allegation, the PCR court found Mariko's statement was non-hearsay. The PCR court explained that the challenged statement was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted—i.e. that multiple people saw Petitioner shoot the victim. Rather, because Mariko's statement prompted Petitioner's response to initial allegations regarding his involvement in the shooting, the statement was admissible for the

limited purpose of placing Petitioner’s response into context. *See Atkins v. Commonwealth*, 13 Va. App. 365, 368, 412 S.E.2d 194, 196 (1991) (“Whether statements which draw responses are inadmissible hearsay depends upon the nature of the statements . . . ; [w]ords which constitute a question or accusation that result in a party admission are not barred by the hearsay evidence rule.”); *Tellis v. Traynham*, 195 Va. 447, 453, 78 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1953) (“It is only when the prompting statements have the quality of evidence (offered for the truth of the matter asserted) that they become inadmissible hearsay.”).

The PCR court cited this Court’s opinion in *Rhodes v. State*, in support of its conclusion that Mariko’s statement was non-hearsay because it was not offered for its truth. 349 S.C. 25, 561 S.E.2d 606 (2002). The victim in *Rhodes* was robbed at gunpoint by an unknown assailant, but was later able to identify the defendant in a friend’s yearbook. *Id.* at 29, 561 S.E.2d at 608. The friend, who attended middle school with the defendant, showed the victim the defendant’s picture in his yearbook with after hearing rumors regarding the defendant’s recent involvement in a shooting. *Id.* This in turn led to the defendant’s apprehension and subsequent identification via photographic line-up. *Id.*

On appeal, the defendant claimed the friend’s testimony about rumors of the defendant’s involvement in shooting “a guy and a girl” was inadmissible hearsay, and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to these statements. *Id.* at 30, 561 S.E.2d at 608–09. In finding trial counsel was not ineffective, this Court explained that the challenged portion of the friend’s testimony “was not offered to prove [the defendant] had committed the crimes, but rather to explain [the victim’s] identification of [the defendant] in the yearbook.” *Id.* at 31, 561 S.E.2d at 609.

Petitioner contends this Court’s opinion in *Rhodes* “fails to support the PCR court’s conclusion but instead further illustrates that the testimony in [P]etitioner’s case was hearsay.”

(Pet. 10). Specifically, Petitioner asserts that Mariko’s statement is distinguishable from the challenged statement in *Rhodes* because Mariko “did not equivocate” in her statement that “people had seen [petitioner] shoot [the decedent].” (Pet. 10). Petitioner misconstrues this Court’s reasoning as to why the challenged statement in *Rhodes* was non-hearsay, which was not based on the challenged statement being unequivocal. Rather, it was based on the fact that the statement was offered for a reason other than its truth. Mariko’s statement was similarly not offered to prove Petitioner shot the victim, but instead was offered to establish the effect of the statement on Petitioner and lay the foundation for Petitioner’s admissible statement denying involvement in the shooting.

Petitioner’s next compares his case to *State v. Brewer* in support of his contention that Counsel’s failure to object constituted deficient performance because the statement could not have been offered to prove the effect on the listener or to establish context. 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015). *Brewer* involved the erroneous admission of the defendant’s interview with law enforcement, where investigators frequently referenced and quoted many purported eyewitnesses to Brewer the victim. *Id.* at 406, 768 S.E.2d at 659. Investigators told Brewer multiple times that he had to “prove his innocence.” *Id.* at 405, 768 S.E.2d at 658. The entire recording of the interview, including the investigators’ hearsay-laden questions and comments, was played for the jury. *Id.* at 405, 768 S.E.2d at 658. Brewer was subsequently convicted of murder. *Id.* at 403, 768 S.E.2d at 657.

This Court reversed Brewer’s murder conviction on appeal and remanded for a new trial, rejecting the State’s contention that the investigators’ statements purported regarding eyewitnesses were admissible for purposes of context or for the effect the statements had on Brewer. Specifically, this Court found “the only effect these statements had on Brewer was to make him

repeatedly deny shooting anyone” and that “the meaning of these denials is obvious and requires no explanatory context.” *Id.* at 407, 768 S.E.2d at 659. Particularly concerned about the *burden-shifting* statements made by *law enforcement*, this Court found law enforcement’s insistence that Brewer prove his innocence “has *no* place before the jury. *Id.* at 408, 768 S.E.2d at 659 (emphasis in original).

Petitioner attempts to equate the burden-shifting statements made by law enforcement to Mariko’s non-burden-shifting statement by inexplicably concluding that “*Brewer* firmly rejects the notion that such hearsay can be offered to prove the effect on the listener or establish context.” (Pet. 11). However, nothing in the *Brewer* opinion suggests this Court intended to impose a blanket rejection of *all* out-of-court statements for the purpose of establishing context. None of this Court’s concerns in *Brewer* are applicable to Petitioner’s case, as Mariko’s statement did not involve an interrogation by law enforcement nor did anyone suggest Petitioner had to prove his innocence. Mariko merely testified about the conversation she had with Petitioner on the night of the shooting. (App. 148–49).

Petitioner nonetheless maintains that his response to Mariko’s statement could have been easily elicited without introducing the statement which prompted his response. As an initial matter, Mariko’s testimony that she told Petitioner “people saw you shoot [the victim]” was particularly relevant to illustrate why Mariko refused to pick up Petitioner from the police station. *See* 31A C.J.S. Evidence § 365 (“[T]estimony is not hearsay where it relates to what the witness himself did in reliance on, or in response to, a statement, facts upon which action was taken, personal observations, explanation of conduct, the effect of statements on the listener, the fact that something was said, or identifying what was said.”) (cited with approval in *Fields v. Reg’l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 30–31, 609 S.E.2d 506, 512 (2005). Additionally, because

Petitioner repeatedly asked Mariko “what everybody was saying,” her statement was necessary to lay the foundation for Petitioner’s non-hearsay response. See *United States v. Wills*, 346 F.3d 476, 489–90 (4th Cir. 2003) (finding that statements made by defendant’s incarcerated brother during recorded telephone conversations, in response to defendant’s own statements, were reasonably required to place defendant’s responses into context); *United States v. Tolliver*, 454 F.3d 660, 666 (7th Cir.2006) (explaining that “[s]tatements providing context for other admissible statements are not hearsay because they are not offered for their truth).

II. Even if the challenged statement constituted inadmissible hearsay and trial counsel deficiently failed to object, the PCR court correctly determined Petitioner failed to establish any resulting prejudice because Petitioner’s identification had no bearing on the defense’s accident theory; where the challenged statement was only mentioned a single time during trial; where the State presented extensive testimony from other witnesses about the shooting and surrounding circumstances; and it was clearly conveyed to the jury that Mariko had no actual first-hand knowledge of the accuracy or truthfulness of the statement made by “people.”

Under the second, or “prejudice” prong of *Strickland*, the applicant must prove “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a “probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. When evaluating this probability, a reviewing court “should consider the specific impact counsel’s error had on the outcome of the trial” coupled with “the strength of the State’s case in light of . . . the [totality of the] evidence presented to the jury.” *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843; accord. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695–96 (explaining that the court must analyze how individual errors of counsel affect the important factual findings in a particular case). “An error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691.

Thus, it is not enough “to show the errors had some conceivable effect” on the outcome of the proceeding—counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to *deprive the defendant of a fair trial.*” *Id.* at 687 (emphasis added).

Petitioner again cites *Brewer* in support of his prejudice argument, alleging that “[j]ust like in *Brewer*, hearsay statements about unknown eyewitnesses identifying petitioner as the shooter were improperly admitted.” (Pet. 11). The crucial distinguishing factor, however, is that in both *Rhodes* and *Brewer* the central factual issue was the identity of the shooter. Petitioner admitted he was the shooter, but stated the shooting was accidental and that he touched either the victim’s hand or the gun, and the gun went off. (App. 759). Petitioner therefore incorrectly characterizes Mariko’s statement that “people had seen [Petitioner] shoot [the victim]” as bearing “directly on the factual issue—whether the shooting was accidental.” (Pet. 11). There was no question at trial that Petitioner was involved in shooting the victim, and Mariko’s testimony did not contradict Petitioner’s claim that the shooting was accidental. Therefore, Mariko’s statement merely provided context to Petitioner’s admissible statement denying involvement, which was consistent with the defense’s theory and corroborated Petitioner’s own testimony.

Similarly, even if Mariko’s statement constituted inadmissible hearsay and Counsel was deficient for failing to object, the PCR court correctly found the statement was “so limited in nature” that the testimony had “a very limited impact” on the outcome of Petitioner’s trial. The record supports the PCR court’s conclusion, as the solicitor’s questions immediately following the alleged hearsay statement—about Petitioner’s reaction to allegations he was involved in the shooting—properly limited Mariko’s testimony to her conversation with Petitioner that night. *Cf. State v. Chisholm*, 395 S.C. 259, 274, 717 S.E.2d 614, 622 (Ct. App. 2011) (considering the fleeting nature of a hearsay statement in concluding the statement was harmless). The solicitor did

not emphasize, explain, or even comment on the statement, but merely asked Mariko to repeat her answer. Nor did the solicitor attempt to use Mariko's mention of other witnesses as evidence of Petitioner's guilt at any point throughout the rest of the trial nor did he refer to any of the challenged statement in his closing argument. *See Hinesley v. Knight*, 837 F.3d 721, 735 (7th Cir. 2016) (finding the defendant was not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to object to alleged vouching statements "because the statements were isolated, were not belabored, were not cited by the State in its closing argument, and were highly unlikely to have influenced the judge's assessment of guilt"). Therefore, the PCR court correctly concluded that the testimony was so limited in nature that any alleged error on Counsel's part for failing to object had very limited impact on the outcome of Petitioner's trial

Moreover, even if that one little portion of Mariko's testimony was inadmissible, it could hardly be prejudicial in the context of the entire case. Crucially, the jury was made fully aware that Mariko had no first-hand knowledge of who committed the shooting, which minimized any prejudice that could have resulted from the statement. *Cf. State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006) (finding the improper admission of hearsay evidence to be harmless where the hearsay evidence was impeached by the jury's exposure to the fact the evidence was not based on any first-hand knowledge). By the time the jury heard Mariko's testimony about her phone conversation with Petitioner, it had been established Mariko did not actually witness the shooting.

Petitioner further contends the PCR court erred in finding Petitioner was not prejudiced due to the "overwhelming evidence of [Petitioner's] guilt outside this one statement made by [Mariko]." Petitioner cites this Court's opinion in *Smalls*, implying that the *Smalls* court eliminated the ability for reviewing courts to consider the strength of the State's evidence in assessing prejudice. While *Smalls* did instruct reviewing courts to consider the "specific impact counsel's

error had on the outcome of the trial,” this Court also instructed the PCR court to “consider the strength of the State’s case in light of all the evidence presented to the jury.” 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843. “In general, the stronger the evidence presented by the State, the less likely the PCR court will find the applicant met his burden of proving prejudice.” *Id.* (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696, 104) (stating “a verdict . . . only weakly supported by the record is more likely to have been affected by errors than one with overwhelming record support”); *cf. Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 246, 814 S.E.2d 487, 492–93 (2018) (explaining that the reviewing court must consider the strength of the State’s case apart from the inadmissible evidence in order to gauge prejudice).

Therefore, since the out-of-court statement covered the same facts that other witnesses had already testified to in admissible form, there is no “reasonable probability that . . . the result of the proceeding would have been different,” even if the statement had been excluded. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *cf. State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011) (noting that “[i]mproperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless”). *Compare Chisholm*, 395 S.C. at 274, 717 at 621 (finding the admission of hearsay to be harmless where the defendant was identified as the perpetrator of the crime by two other witnesses) with *Brewer*, 411 S.C. at 409, 768 S.E.2d at 660 (finding the admission of hearsay statements were not harmless because the State’s evidence against the defendant provided “at best only a thin, circumstantial case”).

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